Brigham Young University Law School BYU Law Digital Commons

Utah Supreme Court Briefs (pre-1965)

1964

United Steelworkers of America v. Department of Employment Security of the Industrial Commision of Utah: Appellant's Brief

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE KIND OF CASE

This is an administrative proceeding to determine eligibility for unemployment benefits pursuant to 35-4-1, et seq., Utah Code Annotated, 1953.

DISPOSITION BY BOARD OF REVIEW

The Board of Review, Department of Employment Security, Industrial Commission of Utah, upheld the decision of the Appeals Referee and entered its decision denying unemployment benefits to all claimants in the class represented by appellant union.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellant seeks reversal of the Board of Review decision and judgment in its favor as a matter of law.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Appellant, United Steelworkers of America, Local Union No. 5236, is the certified and recognized collective bargaining agent for the unit of employees at Columbia-Geneva Division, United States Steel Company Pipe Mill at Geneva, Utah, and represents the following named claimants who are employed by United States Steel Corporation at its Geneva, Utah, plant:

Anthony Domenichello ElRoy J. Cunningham Kent V. Fisher John E. Dolinar Austin McEwan Arthur L. Lund Howard D. Armstrong Duane M. Hancock Boyd Williams Jim D. Downey

Galen Johnson
James A. Neil
Verl M. Brimhall
Oran Wall
Andrew Christiansen

The issues and facts regarding each claim are identical and the appellant filed its joint and consolidated petition for and on behalf of each of the abovenamed claimants, its members. (R. 51).

Each of the claimants were working for the company at the large diameter pipe mill until the middle of October, 1963, when there occurred a reduction of force in the large diameter pipe mill which affected the claimants in this case.

The local union's contract with the company provides that:

"Should an employee refuse demotion in a reduction of force to a lower job in the line of regression within the unit, he will be laid off and recall will be in accordance with the provisions of the section, 'Increase of Forces'."

In accordance with the contract provisions, the company proposed and offered demotions to lower occupations and lower pay rates to the fifteen claimants. Some workers in the large diameter pipe mill unit, who were also offered demotions, accepted and continued their employment; however, the fifteen claimants in this case refused the demotions to lower occupations and lower pay rates.

The claimants who became unemployed by reason of refusing the demotion did not lose re-employment or seniority rights and retained other continuing rights as company employees and were not removed from the company employment rolls and as the need arose, were to be recalled in accordance with the provisions of the union contract relative to "Increase of Forces".

On various dates during the week from October 13 to October 19, 1963, a company representative attempted to contact each claimant and offered each reduced grades and classes of work beginning October 21, 1963.

At various times in the past in similar instances of reduction of force, some claimants have accepted a cut back in grade and continued employment and some claimants have refused the cut back in grade and took layoffs and recall in accordance with the provisions of the contract. In the instant case, employees could have accepted the cut back grade and would have continued in employment. However, an exact number of other employees with less seniority rights would have been laid off. Some of the claimants felt they had justification by reason of other job prospects, two or three actually had temporary or part time work for a few days, but at the time they chose to become unemployed, none had any definite date to begin on regular permanent fulltime work of any kind. None of them had intervening employment before claiming unemployment benefits.

The Senior Appeals Referee (R. 44, 45) ruled:

"One of the primary matters of objection by the claimants in this case is that in similar circumstances in prior years, the department did not disqualify claimants who had chosen to become unemployed rather than accept demotion."

And.

"Judging from the reasons for voluntarily becoming unemployed as given by some of the claimants, it appears that to a considerable extent they were motivated by the fact that they thought they would be better off with unemployment compensation, plus company supplemental unemployment benefits, rather than continue at the reduced pay rate."

Ten claimants applied for their unemployment compensation commencing the weeks of October 20, 1963. Four claimants applied for the week of October 27, and one claimant for the week of November 3, 1963. (R. 43).

Title 35-4-5(a), Utah Code Annotated, 1953, provides:

- "An individual shall not be ineligible for benefits or for purposes of establishing a waiting period:
- (a) For the week in which he has left work voluntarily without good cause, if so found by the commission, and for not less than one or more than the five next following weeks, as determined by the commission according to the circumstances in each case, provided that when such individual has had no bona fide employment

between the week in which he voluntarily left such work without good cause and the week in which he filed for benefits he shall be so disqualified for the week in which he filed for benefits and for not less than one or more than the five next following weeks."

Each claimant's regular job, grade and pay rate is shown in the chart below, together with the grade and pay rate which the company asserted each claimant was offered (R. 43, 64-75):

			Work Offered		
Claimant			Pay		Pay
Ciwilliani	Regular Job	Grade	Rate	Grade	Rate
A. Domenichello	O.D. Welder	14	\$3.125	6	\$2.565
E. Cunningham	I.D. Welder	14	3.125	7	2.635
K. Fisher	O.D. Welder	14	3.125	6	2.565
J. Dolinar	Hand Arc				
	Welder	10	2.845	2	2.285
A. McEwan	O.D. Welder	14	3.125	6	2.565
A. Lund	Hand Arc				
H. Armstrong	Welder	10	2.845	4	2.285
	Expander				
D. Hancock	Operator	14	3.125	6	2.565
	Hand Arc				
B. Williams	Welder	10	2.845	2	2.285
J. Downey	O.D. Welder	14	3.125	7	2.635
	End Facer				
G. Johnson	Operator	10	2.845	4	2.425
J. Neil	I.D. Welder	14	3.125	7	2.635
V. Brimhall	O.D. Welder	14	3.125	7	2.635
	End Facer				
O. Wall	Operator	10	2.845	2	2.285
	Tax. Welder	10	2.845	2	2.285
A. Christiansen	Expander				
	Operator	14	3.125	7	2.635

The Appeals Referee, after hearing, affirmed the department representative's denial of benefits during the disqualifiaction period on December 20, 1963, and

held as a matter of law that in the week ended October 19, 1963, the claimants left work voluntarily without good cause, and were thus ineligible for benefits pursuant to 35-4-5(a).

ARGUMENT

POINT I. THE BOARD OF REVIEW, INDUSTRIAL COMMISSION OF UTAH, DEPARTMENT OF EMPLOYMENT SECURITY, AND ITS APPEALS REFEREE ERRED AS A MATTER OF LAW IN FINDING THAT THE CLAIMANTS IN THE WEEK ENDED ()CTOBER 19, 1963, LEFT WORK VOLUNTARILY WITHOUT GOOD CAUSE.

In accordance with the union-company seniority agreement, the fifteen claimants at the pipe mill division of Columbia-Geneva Steel Company, formerly Consolidated Western Steel Company, had the option and choice to either regress to a lower job classification and pay status or to take a layoff whenever a force reduction is necessary. This agreement has been in effect since 1957 and since that time workers have, on many occasions, elected to take layoff without loss of unemployment compensation benefits.

In fact, the Department of Employment Security in former years did not disqualify workers who had chosen to become unemployed rather than to accept demotion. The employer contended that in 1958 it questioned the Department of Employment Security policy of allowing benefits under these conditions, and it was the department ruling at that time that no disqualifying issue existed. This ruling apparently continued in full force and effect until this layoff in October, 1963.

Illustrative of the above, one of the claimants, a Mr. Dolinar, testified (R. 103-105):

"Mr. Bills: During—since May of 1955 there have been many increases and decreases. Have you yourself taken direct layoff?

Mr. Dolinar: Yes, sir.

Mr. Bills: In the operation before. Can you tell us approximately when?

Mr. Dolinar: Oh, I would say approximately 1958.

Mr. Bills: And you took a layoff in 1958 from —do you recall which job?

Mr. Dolinar: I would say it would probably have been chipper grinder or flux and wire—probably chipper grinder.

Mr. Bills: And which job were you offered in 1958?

Mr. Dolinar: I was offered—

Referee: You mean at that time?

Mr. Bills: At that time.

Mr. Dolinar: The job of gardiner.

Referee: What class would that be and what class had you been on, grade?

Mr. Dolinar: I am not sure what job I was on. It was probably on a job class 10, and the gardiner job is a job class 3.

Mr. Bills: Now did you make application for unemployment compensation at the time of the layoff in 1958?

Mr. Dolinar: Yes, I did.

Mr. Bills: Did you receive unemployment compensation?

Mr. Dolinar: Yes, I did.

Mr. Bills: Was there any comments, other than force reduction, placed on the blue slip that was issued to you by the company?

Mr. Dolinar: As I recall, there was nothing other than force reduction.

Referee: Let me interrupt here. Maybe we can save some time. I think probably it should be stipulated, shouldn't it, Mr. Dremann, that in prior years in the similar situation, when these claims have been filed, there haven't been any disqualifications?

Mr. Dremann: That is my understanding.

Mr. Boorman: Well, subject to this, that a protest was made in 1958 and it was ruled against Consolidated Western and they didn't file an official protest or an appeal, and they accepted at that time, they accepted the initial determination.

Referee: As far as we are concerned, as far as these individuals and their claims are concerned—

Mr. Boorman: That is right.

Referee: —there haven't been any disqualifications—

Mr. Boorman: Not since that time.

Referee: —prior to 1963.

Mr. Boorman: That is true, as far as I know.

Referee: Mr. Bills, would that be agreeable with you?

Mr. Bills: Yeah.

Referee: I mean it would just save you asking that question of all these men.

Mr. Bills: The reason for this particular question was because earlier—in the beginning this morning, there was reference made to the 1958 incidents. I have no knowledge of it and wanted to find out whether or not in 1958 there had been some protests on the basis of these people.

Mr. Boorman: Well, there was a protest and it didn't get to the appeal stage. It was Consolidated Western's protest, it went into the initial determination and by letter or otherwise—

Referee: I think it may be in-

Mr. Boorman: It may be in your record, uhhuh. But it was never appealed officially, at least to my knowledge.

Mr. Dremman: I have no information of it myself, but I will accept what you say as a fact."

The stipulation referred to in the above testimony was proposed in order to save time of the hearing officer for the identical situation was repeated and repeated throughout the hearing by other claimants who had the same experience as Mr. Dolinar, and there is no need to incorporate all such testimony in this brief.

Claimant Williams reflected the reasons which mainly motivated his decision to accept layoff rather than demotion. He testified (R. 118):

"Referee: So you have accepted cutbacks in the past!

Mr. Williams: Several times.

Referee: How low?

Mr. Williams: How low?

Referee: Yes.

Mr. Williams: I don't recall going below a 2, but I have to accept a 2 to even get in there. So I have accepted a job class 2 on up through 10 at different occasions. I worked on one of these—

Referee: When was that, how long ago?

Mr. Williams: It has been about every year since 1956. At the operation of the mill they have no set pattern of operation. They may work six months a year, they may work ten.

Referee: What was the reason you wouldn't accept it this year?

Mr. Williams: I have talked to several of the fellows throughout the mill who have been off for several months, their unemployment has expired—

Referee: You mean their unemployment benefits?

Mr. Williams: Their unemployment benefits have expired. Some of them had some of their

SUB payments still available, but I felt I was in a little better shape financially than some of those may have been, so being the Good Samaritan I accepted to take this cutback and let one other man stay on who would normally have been bumped out of the mill and out of all benefits had I stayed on. So the state would have to pay benefits to one man, one way or another."

Mr. Johnson's testimony illustrated that there was no real assurance of even the proffered demoted grade (R. 128):

"Mr. Johnson: I don't know. Just like I said, while I was on vacation I was lowered three job classes.

Mr. Boorman: And as you indicated, you have taken jobs all the way from 6 up through job class 10 on prior cutback. Is that right?

Mr. Johnson: I have accepted jobs. I have also taken layoff before without any trouble.

Mr. Boorman: Did you in fact tell Mr. Little-field and Mr. Jones that you would take the cut-back if you could hold job class 10, but you wouldn't do it if all you could hold was a 7?

Mr. Johnson: That's what I told them the first day when they first came around. I told them I would accept a 10. Then the next day, it was probably about the day after, we discussed the 7 and I said, 'What assurance is there after my vacation?' And he said he could not guarantee me a 7 after my vacation.

Mr. Boorman: Well, in fact by the very nature of jobs and operations you can't guarantee any for any—

Mr. Johnson: Well, then why should they put it on our blue slips?

Mr. Boorman: But they can offer it to you, can't they!

Mr. Johnson: They can offer, but don't guarantee, like I said. They cut these three job classes before just while I was on vacation, so there is no asssurance at all of a guarantee.

Mr. Boorman: No further questions."

Such is the case with claimant Neil, who testified (R. 128, 129):

"Referee: Do you have any comments or any corrections you would like to make in regard to the record so far?

Mr. Neil: Yes, I was offered a job class 10 the first time they came around.

Referee: When was that?

Mr. Neil: It was October 15 or 16. And then they came back the next day—

Referee: What did you say when they offered class 10?

Mr. Neil: I would take it.

Referee: All right, then what?

Mr. Neil: Then the next day I was offered job class 7, and I told them I wanted to think it over. In the meantime, the next day, I got a call from Larry Jones offering me a job class 10 and I asked him definitely would it be a job class 10 that would last indefinitely and he said yes, he would guarantee me a job class 10.

Referee: And what date was that, on the 17th?

Mr. Neil: The 17th or 18th.

Referee: Who did this, did you say?

Mr. Neil: Larry Jones.

Referee: Where?

Mr. Neil: A telephone call from, I imagine, from the plant to my place.

Referee: And what did you say?

Mr. Neil: I told him I would take a job class 10.

Referee: What happened?

Mr. Neil: The following day, or the day after, I was contacted by Mr. Littlefield, who at the time our grievance man, John Dolinar, was with us, and offered me a job class 7 and I refused. I had a question on it first. I talked with John and that on it, and then refused it."

How the cutback affected the low men on the senity list was related by claimant Hancock (R. 115, 116):

"Mr. Hancock: I am fairly well on the seniority list, I am fairly well down on the line because somewhere in line we drew straws, and I have been—I have been subject to layoff a lot, and I have got laid off so many times, I can't remember how many times.

Referee: Now you started to say something else when I interrupted you and asked you how long you had been with the company. Can you recall what you were about to say?

Mr. Hancock: No.

Referee: What is there you had in mind here-

Mr. Hancock: Well, I think maybe that—

Referee: —that you would like to add.

Mr. Hancock: The times that I was over in the Little Mill I was called back in on say a 10 or an 8, or something like that, two or three times.

Referee: Speak up a little bit.

Mr. Hancock: And I don't, as I recall, I am not sure, as I recall, I don't think I ever took a reduction of force to labor. I never was—as a rule I got laid off. But this time, this year, I refused it twice in 1963.

Referee: You haven't accepted cutback in the past, ever?

Mr. Hancock: Down to labor, I don't think I ever did.

Referee: No, I mean to any classification on this demotion process.

Mr. Hancock: I never did, my seniority was low enough and when they was going—when I was over there, maybe one time when the Big Mill was running it seems to me I went over on that, the way the seniority ran.

Referee: Now your grade was 10 here.

Mr. Hancock: And I was laid off, I can't remember, I think I took layoff, whether I did or whether I was laid off I can't remember, and then I was called back. They got two shifts running in the Little Mill so that gave me a fairly good job, so I went back two or three times, it seems to me like I got back on. I always accept

them when they call me back. But I don't think I ever went over on a job from the Big Mill when it was completely shut down . . .

Referee: I don't think you are going to record unless you speak louder and more distinctly.

Mr. Hancock: That is all I have.

Referee: Well, now why didn't you accept the cutback this time?

Mr. Hancock: Well, just because in the past seven or eight years I have been working there, it has always worked out I have done better when I did that. I did refuse labor, which I usually got laid off. The few times . . .

Referee: Well, did you have—go ahead.

Mr. Hancock: No, I didn't have any prospects. I always looked, but I never did find a job. Maybe I did two or three times, but between the SUB and unemployment I seemed to do better than staying on on labor out there, when you figure gas and everything. And in the past we always—there was no question asked. There was nothing on our blue slip and we went down to the unemployment office and there was no questions asked and nothing. In fact, this time I was really surprised it said something on the blue slip. I went over there to Geneva, I wasn't contacted personally that there was going to be anything on the blue slip on this. And I don't think nobody or anyone of them actually knew that there was going to be anything on the blue slip because it was like in the past, reduction of force, and we go down and . . . And that was another thing, I didn't like graveyard, as far as that goes. But that is what you contend with on the . . . "

Mr. McEwan, a claimant, explained the "no guarintee" offer by the Company (R. 107):

"Referce: And do you have any comments or any corrections you would like to make?

Mr. McEwan: Well, nothing in particular. I was contacted on October 16 by Mr. Jones and Littlefield as to the shutdown of the Large Diameter Mill, and I was told that I could possibly hold a 5 or 6 job class in the Small Mill. I asked Mr. Jones at the time if there was any guarantee of this and, of course, he said no, there was not such a way that he could guarantee anything. So I told him I would like to have a day to think it over because I had some more work in mind, and asked if he would let me have until the next day to give him an answer, which he said, yes. So I think it was the 17th in the afternoon when Mr. Jones and Littlefield contacted me again and I had also contacted that partner of mine on some work we wanted to do, which would have been self-employment. And so when Mr. Jones and Littlefield contacted me the 17th. I told them that I would decline, I would sign off, which all he had to offer me was a slip stating labor in the Small Mill, which I signed off. I went to Geneva and turned in my badge and received my papers as termination. And at such time I turned back to Consolidated the white slip to claim my pay check. And at that time, Mr. Seely will recall, I had a talk with him in his office and he asked me what I was taking off, because it's the first time that I had never taken layoff. There might have been the other time, but in the talk with Mr. Seely he asked me why I was taking layoff and I told him I would rather take it at that time because I thought I would have more chance of getting another job early in the fall rather than later.

And I asked him how things looked in the Small Mill. He laughed and said, 'Not very good, because we just lost a large order which they had thought they had.' And that is about all that was said. I told him I chose to take layoff because of my own personal reasons, and that was that I hold some claims, I and another fellow, and we wanted to get more samples before fall weather set in, and also to do location work, if weather permitted."

Company witness Jones supported the "no guarantee" and the so-called new policy of disqualification by stating (R. 75, 76):

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