Brigham Young University Law School BYU Law Digital Commons

Utah Supreme Court Briefs (pre-1965)

1964

United Steelworkers of America v. Department of Employment Security of the Industrial Commision of Utah: Respondents' Brief

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT POINT I.

EACH OF THE CLAIMANTS HERE IN-VOLVED MANIFESTLY LEFT HIS WORK VOLUNTARILY WITHOUT GOOD CAUSE; EACH THEREFORE WAS INELIGIBLE FOR BENEFITS DURING THE PERIOD HERE IN-VOLVED.

The case at bar turns upon the provisions of Title 35, Chapter 4, Section 5 (a), Utah Code Annotated, 1953, which provides:

"An individual shall be ineligible for benefits or for purposes of establishing a waiting period: "Voluntarily Leaving Work.

"(a) For the week in which he has left work voluntarily without good cause, if so found by the commission, and for not less than one or more than the five next following weeks, as determined by the commission according to the circumstances in each case, provided that when such individual has had no bona fide employment between the week in which he voluntarily left such work without good cause and the week in which he filed for benefits he shall be disqualified for the week in which he filed for benefits and for not less than one or more than the five next following weeks." (Emphasis added.)

Each of the claimants here involved was offered work in a lower pay classification. Each of them "could have continued in employment with the company if they had accepted the demotions as proposed and offered by the company" (R. 42). Claimant Hancock admitted that he elected to be laid off rather than to continue in his employment because (R. 116):

"Maybe I did two or three times, but between the SUB and unemployment I seemed to do better than staying on labor out there, when you figure gas and everything."

Claimant Downey stated that he refused to accept a continuation of his employment but instead elected to be unemployed for the reason that (R. 124):

"Because I have got to figure that I have got to live the best way I can and I have always seen that I can make more money on the SUB and unemployment than I can working out there labor, which has been—they only work four days a week."

From evidence such as this, the Senior Appeals Referee found (R. 44):

"Judging from the reasons for voluntarily becoming unemployed as given by some of the claimants, it appears that to a considerable extent they were motivated by the fact that they thought they would be better off with unemployment compensation, plus company's supplemental unemployment benefits, rather than continue at the reduced pay rate."

The Legislature, in adopting the Unemployment Compensation Act provided in Title 35, Chapter 4, Section 2:

"As a guide to the interpretation and application of this act, the public policy of this state is declared to be as follows: Economic insecurity due to unemployment is a serious menace to the health, morals, and welfare of the people of this state. Unemployment is therefore a subject of general interest and concern which requires appropriate action by the legislature to prevent its spread and to lighten its burden which now so often falls with crushing force upon the unemployed worker and his family. The achievement of social security re-

quires protection against this greatest hazard of our economic life. * * *"

Applying this legislative intent to the acts of the claimants here involved, their claim for unemployment compensation is without merit. Their unemployment here resulted from their own calculated volitional act. The legislature judiciously sought to alleviate the "crushing force upon the unemployed worker and his family" only when his unemployed status resulted from factors over which he himself had no control. This court in *Olf Nelson Construction Co.* v. *Industrial Commission*, 121 Utah 525, 243 P. 2d 951 expressly so held stating:

"As we pointed out in the *Lexes* case, the declared policy of the Unemployment Reserve Law, as it was called in 1935, is to establish

'financial reserves for the benefit of persons unemployed through no fault of their own.'"

In Kennecott Copper Corporation Employees v. Department of Employment Security, 13 U. (2d) 262, 372 P. 2d 987, this court re-stated the original legislative policy of coming to the assistance of the claimant only where his unemployment was "without fault on his part".

Although the precise question here involved has not heretofore been resolved by this court, it has been treated by the courts in a number of other jurisdictions. The rule emerging from the cases is stated as follows at 90 A. L. R. 2d at page 846:

"A number of cases have involved the question whether an employee who in accordance with the

seniority provisions of a collective bargaining agreement is transferred or offered a transfer, but refuses such transfer and leaves the service of the employer is 'voluntarily' unemployed. The general rule of these cases would appear to be that the employee offered a lower-paying job when there is no longer work available in his regular classification must take such a job or be considered 'voluntarily' unemployed. It must be noted, of course, that in these cases the Union's part in the transaction is to protect the employee from dismissal for lack of work, and where the employee, rather than take advantage of this protection, chooses to take his chances on doing better elsewhere, he has little ground for complaint."

In Goebelbecker v. State (1958), 53 N. J. Super. 53, 146 A. 2d 488, a claimant refused to accept a demotion from \$2.77 per hour to \$2.32 per hour. Because of the difference in the disqualification period under the New Jersey statute between "work refusal" and a "voluntary quit", the claimant there asserted that his refusal constituted a "work refusal", not a "voluntary quit". Whether a work refusal or a voluntary quit under the Utah statute is, of course, immaterial inasmuch as the same disqualification period applies to each. However, the court in the Goebelbecker case ruled that the refusal to accept demotion constituted a voluntary leaving of employment stating:

"This argument is without merit. The relationship of employer and employee was never severed by the employer; appellant remained on the company's payroll and retained both his seniority and the right to continue work at another job in his family group . . . The Act was not intended to offer benefits to workers as an alternate to accommodating their employers changed operations. Ordinary common sense as well as a consideration of the underlying purposes of unemployment compensation require us to hold that claimant left work voluntarily rather than that he refused to accept suitable new employment.

··* * *

"The burden is on the claimant to establish a justifiable reason or excuse for his failure to accept the Croacher position. Good cause means cause sufficient to justify an employee's voluntarily leaving the ranks of the employed and joining the ranks of the unemployed."

The Wisconsin Supreme Court in *Dentici* v. *Industrial Commission*, 264 Wis. 181, 58 N. W. 2d 717, 720 (1953) entered a similar ruling in a case in which a claimant refused to accept an assignment involving reduced earnings in another department stating:

"* * Here it must be held that there was a voluntary termination of his employment by the employee, because the evidence shows that by his acts he intended to leave his employment rather than accept a transfer."

ACCORD:

Claim of Gerdano, 2 App. Div. 2d 88, 153 N. Y. S. 2d 924 (1956) — Where employee refused to accept demotion from job grade 7 to job grade 4 and was held thus to have voluntarily left his employment without good cause.

Arizona, CCH Par. 8211.18 (1956) — Appeal Tribunal ruled that refusal to accept transfer to lower paying job

constituted voluntary quit without good cause.

Indiana, CCH Par. 1975 (.487) (1951) — Review Board ruled that refusal to transfer to a higher paying but less desirable job in accordance with seniority rights constituted voluntary leaving from employment.

Indiana, CCH Par. 8214.05 (1954) — The Board of Review held that an employee who refused to accept transfer to lower paying job voluntarily left work without good cause.

Michigan, CCH Par. 8949 (1960) — The Circuit Court, reversing an Appeals Board award, ruled that a foreman could not receive unemployment compensation who had refused to work on a second shift stating:

"There is no question of fact at all. It is a question of law. If a man quits his job voluntarily, unless he can blame it on the employer he cannot get benefits."

Washington, CCH Par. 8295 (1958) — The Washington Superior Court ruled that a claimant who refused to accept an assignment to a lower paying classification was disqualified from receiving benefits, stating:

"* * the court concludes as a matter of law * * * the claimant left his employment voluntarily without good cause because * * *."

New Jersey, CCH Par. 8322.02 (1958) — A claimant was held to have voluntarily quit by the Board of Review, and hence to be disqualified from receiving benefits, when he refused to exercise seniority to work in a lower paying job instead of accepting lay off.

New Jersey, CCH Par. 8338.10 (1959) — The Board of Review held that an employee who exercised his right under the labor agreement to accept lay-off, rather than demotion, was disqualified for voluntary leaving of work without good cause.

Vermont, CCH Par. 806011 (1952) (new matters) — An employee who refused to accept a transfer to a lower paying job was disqualified because of voluntarily leaving work.

Texas, CCH Par. 8188 (1955) (new matters) — The Employment Commission ruled that refusal to transfer to another job at a lower rate of pay constituted voluntary resignation without cause disqualifying for benefits.

We submit that the expressed policy of the Utah Legislature in adopting the unemployment compensation statute requires an adoption by this court of the rule stated in the authorities set forth above and that the order of the Industrial Commission should be affirmed.

POINT II.

NO AUTHORITY IS CITED IN AID OF ANY OF THE ARGUMENTS MADE IN APPELLANT'S BRIEF; NONE OF THE ARGUMENTS STATED HAS MERIT.

Each of the appellant's arguments will be discussed in sequence:

a) That 15 other employees would have received unemployment compensation; hence, 15 em-

ployees here involved simply were "good samaritans".

This argument appears to be the central core of appellant's argument. However, it is fraught with difficulties.

Aside from the bald and unsupported conclusion contained in the "good samaritan" testimony of witness Williams as follows, the record contains no evidence whatsoever which would indicate that an equal number of employees would have been placed on lay-off status. Mr. Williams gratuitously concluded (R. 118):

"Some of them had some of their SUB payments still available, but I felt I was in a little better shape financially than some of those may have been, so being a good samaritan, I accepted to take this cut back and let one other man stay on who would normally have been bumped out of the mill and out of all benefits had I stayed on. So the State would have to pay benefits to one man, one way or another."

It is interesting to note that on the same page of the record (R. 118) Williams admitted that at the time he was contacted and offered a job at a lower rate of pay, "I told them definitely not, I was going to get out of there regardless." This latter admission is consistent with the testimony of Mr. Jones who stated (R. 72):

"Yes. On Mr. Williams, on approaching him he refused anything we had to offer. He turned to me and said, 'I don't want to stay, I don't care what you have got to offer.'"

See also the testimony of witness Jones at record page 133 as follows:

"Boyd Williams was very indignant when we approached him. He knew of his tentative lay off. We approached him, I showed him the chart with his name within the job class 7 group. It was asterisked, at the bottom it had — those with asterisks are scheduled on vacation next week. Boyd Williams said, 'I do not want anything in the small diameter mill.' He signed the sign off and we left him."

Contrary to the factual assumption necessary for this argument, the Company at the time of the lay off was contemplating changing from a two to a three shift operation which would necessitate additional personnel. The third shift operation commenced on October 27, nine days after the lay off here involved (R. 69-70).

The further conclusion of the "good samaritan" that the State would have been required to pay benefits "one way or another", assumes, as is admitted at page 23 of appellant's brief, that each person hypothetically so reduced in force would have been otherwise eligible for unemployment compensation benefits. There is no justification in the record for such an assumption. Even assuming for purposes of argument that there would have been a lay off of an equal number of men, it does not follow that they would have received unemployment compensation benefits. They may have secured other employment, they may have refused other proper employment or for numerous other reasons they may have been disqualified from receiving unemployment compensation.

Furthermore, this argument cannot be valid for the further reason that the unemployment compensation benefits must be administered on an individual employee basis. Whether or not some other employee may or may not receive unemployment compensation is wholly immaterial in determining under the statute whether a particular employee meets the statutory tests.

b) That the agreement between the Union and the employer permitting an employee to elect between accepting a demotion or taking lay off binds the Commission and requires the payment of unemployment compensation.

This argument is patently erroneous on its face. It is absurd to argue that private parties by their contracts can change statutory requirements. The contract provision here involved is highly desirable from the employees' standpoint. He frequently may prefer, as some of these employees obviously did, to attempt to obtain higher paying jobs rather than accept demotions to lower paying jobs. This was not an agreement, however, to permit these employees to draw unemployment benefits. It would not, in any event, change the voluntary nature of employees' acts in leaving available jobs, thereby disqualifying them from unemployment benefits under the Utah Act.

This precise issue was before the Wisconsin Supreme Court in *Roberts* v. *Industrial Commission*, 2 Wis. 2d 399, 86 N. W. 2d 406. There the claimant was entitled under the provisions of the labor agreement to accept lay-off status rather than a demotion. In ruling that the parties

could not by their private agreement alter the application of the statute governing unemployment compensation benefits, the court stated:

"To hold that by private agreement a party who refuses reasonable employment is entitled to unemployment benefits would make his eligibility dependent on negotiation between the employee or his bargaining agent rather than on the statute, administered by the Industrial Commission. Yet that is the effect which respondent now claims for the contract. If that is the effect of the provision in question the contract must be declared void in that respect. But we do not think the contract attempted any such thing or that it need be so interpreted.

"The contract provision deals with the employee's seniority status. If he is offered a job more than two labor grades below his original one he need not take it. The parties have agreed that quitting under such circumstances will not impair his seniority. But for compensation purposes this is quitting nonetheless for a cause not attributable to the employer as we held in Dentici v. Industrial Commission, supra."

ACCORD:

Chambers v. Owens-Ames Kimball Company, 146 Ohio S. 559, 67 N. E. 2d 439.

Bigger v. Unemployment Compensation Commission, 43 Del. 553, 53 A. 2d 761.

Department of Labor and Industry v. Unemployment Compensation Board, Pa. Superior Court, 32 Law Week 2693 (June 30, 1964).

Barclay White Company v. Unemployment Compensation Board of Review, 356 Pa. 43, 50 A. 2d 336.

c) That since the employer did not "guarantee" indefinite employment at a stated job class, the employees involved are entitled to unemployment compensation.

Again, no authority is cited for this novel argument and the argument is wholly invalid. It is, of course, impossible for any employer to make such a guarantee. To hold that the failure to make such guarantee justifies a cessation of employment and requires the payment of unemployment compensation is so unrealistic as to be absurd.

The Senior Appeals Referee found (R. 42):

"That the claimants in this case could have continued in employment with the Company if they had accepted the demotions as proposed and offered by the Company * * *."

The Company made firm offers to these employees. It was required to do no more. If the employees had accepted the firm offers made, they would have still been working at the time of the hearing below in this matter "on a job equal to or greater than the one offered them at that time" (R. 75). However, instead, each of these employees voluntarily left his employment and hence voluntarily disqualified himself from the receipt of benefits.

d) That the motivation of the claimants is immaterial in determining whether compensation is payable.

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